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Introduction

The author was asked by Halcrow to carry out an archaeological assessment of the areas to be affected by the proposed upgrading of Ullapool drainage, comprising a waste water treatment plant, two new pumping stations, and pipelines connecting these and a new outfall. The object of the assessment was to locate known archaeological features and identify previously unrecorded archaeological sites or areas of archaeological interest in the general area of these works, and to assess the potential impact of the project on the archaeological record. Where the project does have a potential impact on the archaeology, recommendations will be made of measures to be taken to mitigate this impact, ranging from minor alterations to the plans of the project, to recording of sites or monitoring of work where damage to features can not be avoided. Any decisions on further archaeological input will be made in consultation with the senior archaeologist in charge of the project at Highland Council.

Method

The following resources were consulted during the desk-based assessment:

· Sites and Monuments Record, held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council, Inverness

· NMRS database of the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland in Edinburgh

· Aerial photographs held by the RCAHMS in Edinburgh

· Early maps of the area held by the Map Library within the National library of Scotland in Edinburgh

· Archive material and maps held by Ullapool Museum

The following publications provided valuable background information:

· JR Baldwin (ed): Peoples and Settlement in North West Ross, 1994

· CM Boyd: The Morefield Crofting Township, 1996

The desk-based assessment was followed by a rapid walk-over survey, carried out on 22nd August 2001, in clear sunny weather.

Historical Background: Morefield

Two placenames are associated with the area north of the Ullapool River: Kanachrine and Morefield. These names are both topographical: Morefield from the Gaelic ‘coille mhor’ (‘big wood’) and Kanachrine from ‘an Ceanna Chruinn’ (the round head’) Both appear to have been used interchangeably by early map makers; Peter May’s map of 1755/6 calls the area ‘Kenachryne and Morchyle’, but Kanachryne would appear to refer to the promontory above the river where the farm was sited, now Morefield housing estate, while the placename of Morefield  appears to have referred to the Braes and the hill behind. Although no woodland is recorded on any of the early maps, the Loch Broom area was generally known to have been well-wooded, at least until after the Jacobite rebellion.

The two placenames suggest that there were originally two townships north of the river. None is marked on Pont’s survey of the 1580s, although he records Ullapool, Glastullich and Corry. However, two townships are recorded on maps from 1750 on, Dorret, for example naming ‘Callimore’ and ‘Keanachrin’. Roy’s Military Survey of the 1750s records two clusters of houses close to each other and both on the Braes, at some distance from the river, while Thomson’s map of 1826 shows one on the Braes and the other on the river but further inland than the later farm.

This original settlement pattern was replaced at the beginning of the 19th century by the Morefield farm, and the crofts on the Braes. The crofts were laid out sometime between 1810 and 1820 to receive families removed from Strathkanaird, Achall, Isle Martin, Coigach, Auchindrean and possibly Ardcharnich and Inverlael. The boundary between farm and crofts was roughly the Allt na Beiste.

A great part of the farm appears to have remained as rough grazing, only the fields along the road being drained and improved. The farm buildings are on the promontory above the river, in the same location as buildings marked on William Morrison’s survey of the farm of Ullapool in 1775, with a track leading to a bridge over the river at the same place as the present footbridges. The farmhouse and square were built for the Cromartie estate in the 1850s

Historical Background: Ullapool

While the placename of Ullapool  indicates Norse settlement of the area, and the supposed Caisteal Mhic Cneacail was believed to have been founded by the McNichols who came from Norway in the 10-11th century and owned Lewis and Assynt until the ascendancy of the McLeods in the mid-13th century, little is actually known of the settlement of Ullapool until, as part of the forfeited Cromartie estates, it was surveyed in the 1750s. At that time, Ullapool was a typical joint-tenant farm with a tacksman and sub-tenants. Morrison’s survey of 1775 shows houses and arable strips concentrated to the east of the present village, around the secondary school and Royal Hotel. These presumably include the homes of twelve demobilized soldiers settled on the farm in 1763. A scatter of individual buildings are marked along the top of the raised beach, now Shore Street and West Terrace. No buildings are marked along the shore line.

 When the fishing village was established in 1788, the lotted streets were laid out to the east of the pier, leaving the greater part of the land west of the pier as arable fields. West Shore Street contains some of the earliest buildings of the village, including ten houses built by Robert Melville, one of the first developers of the fishing village, for his artisans. West Argyll St and West Terrace also appear to have been lotted for housing; the 1st edition Ordnance Survey map of 1875 shows Argyll Street filled with houses, but only three buildings along West Terrace. The shoreline was also lotted, as arable land, and three buildings, no longer extant, are marked on the present Pathfinder map.

Archaeological Background

Two archaeological features have been recorded in the vicinity of the works connected with this project:

1. Caisteal Mhic Cneacail at NH 1240 9435, SMR no. NH19SW0001. This castle is recorded in no maps until the 1st edition Ordnance Survey plan, and appears to have been located on the strength of folk memory. Villagers remember this corner of the village as being generally referred to as ‘the castle’ and remember stone ruins, not identifiable as a castle but considered to be so, located under what is now the northern St Valery Place car park. Excavations in the garden of a house on West Terrace revealed no sign of a castle, and the superior stone of the garden dykes is considered to have come from the ruins. If the castle was located approximately under the St Valery car park, it is sufficiently far from the edge of the bank that it is unlikely that any material associated with the castle would have slipped down the slope of the bank.

2. Gob an t-Seid, Field Systems at NH 122 948, SMR no. NH19SW0087 These field systems were located during an archaeological coastline survey conducted for Historic Scotland. These no doubt dated to some period of pre-improvement land use, but whether they were prehistoric or dated to the pre-Clearance townships is unclear. This area has now been heavily landscaped for the golf course, and these archaeological features can now be considered to no longer exist.

Aerial Photographs

The following possible features were noted on the aerial photographs:

3. Circular Features, Centred on NH 1215 9490 Photographs of 1946 and 1979 suggest the existence of five circular features, but these were not consistently visible on all the photographs, so no positive identification could be made. These all lie within the landscaped area of the golf course, and are not visible on the ground. None are directly on the line of the proposed pipeline route. 

4. Rectangular feature at NH 1240 9445. This large feature, aligned NE-SW, was visible on the low ground in the bend of the river. It appeared to be more of a depression than an enclosure, but is no longer visible on the ground as the area has been landscaped for the disc golf course.

The Archaeological Survey

The greater part of the survey area lies within the following three areas of land use: the golf course north of the Ullapool River, the disc golf course below West Terrace, and the camping and caravan site on the Point of the village. All three areas have been landscaped, presumably by bulldozing, underground services laid and roadways made, to the extent that no archaeological features would have remained visible in these areas. 

Only two areas were apparently intact enough to possibly contain archaeological evidence. These were: the area north of the industrial units, from the road to the proposed location of the waste water treatment plant, and the banks of the Ullapool River. The following archaeological features were noted within these areas:

5. Glac Rainich. Area of Cultivationat NH 1260 9520. This is indicated by improved grass species and two to three possible field clearance piles, on the SE facing slope north of the original head dyke of the Morefield farm as indicated on the early Ordnance Survey maps. It may represent the extent of cultivation prior to the establishment of the farm and crofts.

6. Glac Rainich: Roadway at NH 1255 9518. A well-constructed section of roadway runs above the present fence, which itself follows the line of the head dyke as indicated on early Ordnance Survey maps. The roadway itself is not marked on these maps, but may have led to the targets which are indicated on the 1906 map as part of the rifle range at Morefield. These targets were presumably located on the bank to the north of the area of the proposed plant, but there are no visible remains of these.

7. Morefield, Stone Dyke at NH 1235 9477. This dyke is one of the remaining features of the Morefield farm, and now forms the boundary between the housing estate and the golf course. It has already been crossed by the pipeline to the existing outfall from Morefield pumping station, and can presumably be reinstated again if the present project requires it to be damaged.

8. Ullapool River, Drystone dyke at NH 1235 9458. The tumbled remains of this dyke form the northern boundary of what would have been the arable ground. Maps indicate that it originally continued down the west, seaward side, but this has now been removed

Conclusions and Recommendations

As already mentioned, it is clear that any visible archaeological features have already been removed from the greater part of the area of this survey. This leaves the possibility of archaeological layers surviving intact at a deeper, undisturbed level, which may be revealed, for example, during the excavation of pipeline trenches. However, the conclusion of this assessment is that there is no reason to suppose that these archaeological layers exist at any location to be affected by the present project. It is therefore not felt necessary to recommend any course of action to protect the archaeological record within these areas.

It is also not felt necessary for any further mitigating action to be applied to sites 5 and 6 at Glac Rainich. Their existence has been recorded within this report, and it is not felt that any significant archaeological information will be gained by further investigation.

It is recommended that the two dykes, sites 7 and 8, be restored to their present state when work is completed.

The Photographs

1. Location of the proposed waste water treatment plant, on the low ground centre of photo.

2. Route of proposed pipeline from the waste water treatment plant, foreground, following the fenceline between the industrial estate and the brae to the golf-course, far centre.

3. Route of pipeline across the golf course, by the path, showing the extent of the landscaping.

4. Remains of the enclosing dyke south of the Ullapool River. The location of the proposed new pumping station is below the trees on the right of the photo.
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